Case 123622 CLERK OF THE APPELLATE COURTS Filed 2023 Mar 13 PM 5:07

No. 21-123622-A

N THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF KANSAS

STATE OF KANSAS Plaintiff-Appellee

VS

TOMMY J. MAY Defendant-Appellant

CORRECTED BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Appeal from the District Court of Douglas County, Kansas District Court Case No. 18CR728 Honorable James McCabria, District Court judge presiding

> Jessica R. Kunen Attorney at Law #10996 Attorney for Appellant 3008 Topeka Lane Lawrence, Kansas 66047 (785) 766-8330 JrKunen1@gmail.com

Oral argument:20 minutes

Nature of the Case

Mr. May was charged with attempted first degree murder of Ms. Yarbrough, attempted second degree murder of Mr. Jeremy Jones, aggravated battery on a law enforcement officer Sergeant Neff, possession of methamphetamine, fleeing and eluding, interference with a law enforcement officer, and three counts of criminal damage to property. (R. I: 96-97). After a trial, a jury convicted him of all counts. (R.24: 1813-14). The motion for new trial was denied after an evidentiary hearing. The district court sentenced Mr. May to a controlling sentence of 679 months. (R.36: 51). Mr. May appeals.

Statement of Issues

Issue One: The District Court erred in failing to give a self-defense instruction on the attempted murder of Ms. Yarbrough.

Issue Two: Mr. May was entitled to an instruction on the lesser included offense of attempted voluntary manslaughter as to count one, attempted first degree murder of Ms. Yarbrough.

Issue Three: Prior crimes and civil wrongs were admitted in violation of K.S.A. 60-455. The cautionary instruction failed to remedy the improper admission of this evidence

Issue Four: The trial court improperly limited Mr. May's right to testify under Firth, Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment when it repeatedly shut down his testimony about his physical illness, including cancer and trauma from his military service. Further, the trial court's instruction to the jury to suggesting that the disruptions in the proceeding where due to the failure of Mr. May to comply with certain evidentiary rules was clearly erroneous.

Issue Five: The state's request to endorse Michael Jordan on the last day of the state's case in chief denied Mr. May's right to a fair trial under the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment and the Kansas discovery statutes.

Issue Six: The jury instructions defining the charge of possession of a weapon by a felon improperly included the criminal intent of recklessness which denied Mr. May the right to have the jury to determine his guilt beyond a reasonable doubt in violation of the Fourteenth Amendment. The instruction permitted the jury to convict Mr. May based upon an illegal means, recklessness, requiring the reversal of his conviction.

Issue Seven: The trial court failed to properly define knowingly, in the instruction to the jury on the charge of battery against a police officer.

Issue Eight: The district court erred in denying the motion for new based on trial court errors and newly discovered evidence.

Issue Nine: Multiple errors in this trial require reversal because combined prejudicial effect deprived the defendant of a fair trial.

Statement of Facts

<u>Tommy John May</u> lived at 713 West 25th Street Apartment A on July 2nd, 2018. At the time of the charges, he was fifty-eight. He has an associate degree in psychology. Mr. May is a pilot. (R.22: 1382). He served in the military for four and a half years and was a paratrooper in the Special Forces and was honorably discharged. (R.22: 1384).

The Veterans Administrations paid 70 percent of his rent because of a disability. He also has cancer but was prohibited from talking about his diagnosis for cancer. (R.22:1351). At the time of the offence, he was receiving chemotherapy treatment from K.U. Medical Center for cancer. (R.22:1384). His hearing is also impaired. (R.22:1389). On the day in question, he was recovering from pneumonia and had just been released from the VA where he had been hospitalized for four days. He was weakened from his illness. (R.22:1578-1580). When he tried to explain that he suffered from PTSD like symptoms from his experience in the military, but the court limited his testimony. (R.22:1414).

Around January 1, 2017, Mr. May moved to Lawrence from Leavenworth to be close to the University of Kansas where he hoped to get his BA. (R.22:1384). While moving into his apartment, Mr. May's Ford Explorer was stolen. (R.22:1387). There were several incidents where individuals tried to break into the back door of his apartment, sometimes at night while he was sleeping. (R.22:1389). He called 911 on a person climbing down the attic from next door. (Id). Because he was afraid of people breaking in, he blocked the front door with butter knives. (R.22:1390). He was afraid living there. (R.22.1390). Mr. May met Ms. Yarbrough the first day he moved into the apartment. She was standing outside. (R.22:1385). Steve Sweighart rented the next door apartment B. Several people stayed in the apartment including Jeremy Jones and his girlfriend Ryan who were squatters. (R.22:1532-1533). There was a lot of traffic going in and out, day and night. (R.22:1387) Jeremy Jones had a gun and had stolen from May before. (Id). May was robbed by Jones prior to the incidents in this case. (R.22:1546-1547).

On July the 2nd of 2018, Mr. May woke up at 10:00 a.m. (R.22:1390). He took a drive around Lawrence. At about one p.m. he drove to Michael Jordan's to take him to work. (R.22:1391). He planned to pick him up at 9:30 pm when Jordan got off work. (R.22:1391). May returned to his apartment around 9 pm. (R.22:1392). Ms. Yarbrough knocked his door and he let her in. (R.22:1391). The first thing she did was ask him for money. (Id). He was sitting in the chair, and she was sitting on the love seat. (R.22:1395). (Exhibit 130). He refused her request (Id).

Well, I -- after I told her I wasn't gonna give her any money, she changed the conversation. She asked me if the pills that I had laying on the table, if did I take those with my chemo, my chemotherapy, and I told her that I did. And she said -- asked me if she could have some, and I told her she wasn't getting anything but out of my apartment. (R.22:1395).

Ms. Yarbrough then reached in her pocket and pulled out a small black coin purse and asked if she could use his bathroom. He told her she could not shoot up in his house. She told him she did not want to use at home. She looked in a bad way so he told her she could shoot up in his car. (R.22:1395-1397). She staggered to the door and got in the back seat of his car.

(R.22:1396).

He had to pick up his friend Jordan soon. (R.22:1397). All his prescription medication were in the bottles they were dispensed in and kept in a white container. (R.22:1398). He put his medication in the cabinet over the refrigerator and sat back down for about five minutes

waiting on Yarbrough to finish. (Id). He went into the bedroom to put his shoes and socks to get ready to pick up Michael Jordan when he heard someone come into the apartment. (R.22:1399).

Yarbrough entered his bedroom and walked around where he was sitting. (R.22:1399-1400). She was holding something covered by a pink scarf which he thought was her purse. (Id). She asked him about money and his pills. He had disability money on his Direct Express card. (R.22:1400-1401). He told her he was not giving her anything. (Id).

Yarbrough unwrapped the pink scarf, pulled a handgun and shot toward May, grazing him on the inside of his left arm as he held up his arm in a defensive gesture. (R.22:1401,1418). He grabbed the gun with his right hand and hit her over the head. (R.22:1404). She yelled, ran into the living room to get her bag, and threw it at him. (R.22:1401-1402). The gun shot made a tear or hole in the bed. (R.22:1418).

Yarbrough attacked him. They struggled over the chair and the love seat. Yarbrough bled on the curtains behind him and the tissue box on the table. (R.22:1403). At trial, she denied fighting him, but her fingernail was torn off and was later recovered (R.22:1405).

She started was screaming for Jeremy Jones. (R.22:1408). May stopped briefly to get towels for her bleeding. (R.22: 1407). She fumbled with the door trying to open it. Mr. May was behind her. (R.22:1409). He was trying to stop her from throwing the door wide open, afraid that Jeremy Jones would come into the apartment and harm him. (R.22:1410). The gun he took from her belonged to Jones. (R.22:1409). The gun was in his right hand. They were struggling at the door. The ejection port of the gun was face down in his palm. (R.22:1410). The gun went off, a bullet striking Yarbrough in the left cheek. (R.22:1410). He stated he did not intentionally shoot her. (R.22:1411). The gun didn't eject the fired cartridge casing after

the bullet had gone out the cartridge. (R.23:1504). He dug the shell out and it fell to the floor where forensics found it. (R.23:1504). Yarbrough ran out of the apartment. (R.22:1412).

May was in shock. As stated before, he had just been released from the hospital for pneumonia, was on chemotherapy and was very sick. (R.22:1413). Panicking, he tried to leave. He got his keys, went to the door, and got two steps out the door of his second floor porch when he saw Jeremy Jones running at him at the bottom of the stars. (R.22:1414, 1419). Jones raised his arms and Mays saw the gleam of metal in his hand. (R.22:1419). Jones yelled, "Motherfucker, you just shot my home girl." (R.22:1419). Mays thought Jones was going to shoot him, so he shot first. (R.22:1420). He did not intend to kill him. (Id). Jones turned his body and the bullet hit in the back of his body. (R.22:1420). May went inside to call the police but panicked and felt sick. He ran back out of the apartment and drove off. (R.22:1421).

May testified that he had tunnel vision which is a loss of peripheral vision as a result of combat. (R.22:1421). The trial court instructed the jury to ignore any reference to PTSD. (R.22:1428). He ran past Jones, dropped the gun; the pistol went one way and the magazine the other. (R.22:1430). He stopped and looked around for the gun. (R.22:1431-1432). Ms. Ryan, Jones girlfriend, ran out of apartment B and checked on Jones. (R.22:1433). She picked up something from the ground. (Id). May believed it a gun belonging to Jeremy. She went back into her apartment (R.22:1432-1434).

May found the gun he dropped but not the magazine, walked by Jones on the ground and said, "You're not so tough now that I took your gun from you." (R.22, 1434). He got into his GMC Jimmy, backed up, turned to the left to avoid hitting Jones and hit the dumpster. (R.22:1436-38). It tore off back end of the GMC. (R.22:1438). He then turned southwest on West 25th street intending to go by a friend's house at Alabama and 23rd St. (R.23:1450).

Michael Jordan lived there but was not home. (R.23: 1450-1451). May told a person there, Amada Dean, that he just shot someone. Dean told him to leave. (R.23:1544).

After leaving the house, May turned right onto 23rd street and left on Louisiana heading North to the hospital. At 21st street and Louisiana he ran into a fire hydrant. (R.23:1451-1452). May hit his head, was disoriented, and ended up partially on the passenger floor. (R.23:1452). He rocked the car back and forth until it broke free. (R. (R.23: 1466). He did not see any police or lights flashing. (R. (R.23:1467). Once the car broke free, it was moving back much faster than he anticipated and struck what turned out to be a police car. (R.23: 1467). He was unaware that he hit a police car. ((R.23:1471-1472).

The collision with the hydrant damaged the steering of the car and was forcing the car to the left. ((R.23: 1471, 1475). He had hit his head and was disoriented. (R.23:1464,1468). May turned the car back south on Louisiana. Tunnel vision was affecting his vision and perceptions. (R.23:1560-1561). He was leaning on the passenger side while he drove. (R.23:1464-1466).

May did not see Sergeant Neff and did not feel the impact when the car hit Neff. (R.23:1565). Neff testified that he went partially over the car, stood up and ran after vehicle. There were bullet holes in the front windshield where Neff shot at May. (R.23:1562, 1564).

Mr. May was unable to steer the vehicle well because it was damaged by the hydrant. He to 22nd street, ran up a yard and hit a garage. He stopped the GMC and ran. (R.23: 1476-1477). He was found on Ohio street hiding in the bushes. When the police found him, he gave himself up, although he initially did not give his real name. He was taken to the hospital and treat for a gun wound. (R,23:1548-1549).

Mr. May denied the methamphetamine found in the vehicle belonged to him, suggesting it

belonged to Yarbrough. (R.23:1480-1481).

<u>Marzetta Leezan Yarbrough</u>, nicknamed Mimi, was living at 25th and Ousdahl. She previously lived at713 West 25th Street, the scene of the offense, with Steven Sweighart, in apartment B on the top floor until Christmas day of 2017. (R.18: 300-303). Tommy May lived next door in apt A. (R.18:304). Yarbrough did not know him before he moved in. (R.18: 304). Individuals named Micki Ryan and Jeremy Jones were crashing at apt. A which Mr. Sweighart leased. (R.18: 305). After she was kicked out of the apartment, Yarbrough continued to visit Micki Ryan and Jeremy Jones. (R.18:306). She saw Mr. May in passing. (R.18:306-307).

On July 2, 2018, Yarbrough walked to the Checkers store north on Louisiana to get groceries. (R.18: 307). She testified that on the way home, she stopped by Mr. May's apartment allegedly to get a ride home. (R.18: 317-318). She said they ate cake, until she decided to go next door to visit with her friends. (R.18: 318-319).

Yarbrough's friends asked her to buy methamphetamine from May and gave her some money. She went to the back door of May's apartment. She asked if she could buy some methamphetamine from him; he agreed and told her to estimate the correct amount because she was more familiar with use of the drug. (R.18: 319-324). She went back to her friend's apartment to give them the drug.

She testified that Mr. May called her back over. Once there, he accused her of taking too much methamphetamine. (R.18: 325-326). He was acting very differently, angrily accusing her and others of stealing from him. (R.18: 326). He came up behind her and hit her on the head with a gun. (R.18: 328-329). She thought he had blacked out and didn't know who she was. She was screaming to him that it was her, Mimi. But he kept swearing at her and hit again. (R.18: 329).

He turned away briefly, and she ran for the door. She testified that when she got to the door, he shot her in the neck. (R.18: 331). She went out the door, went around the building, and hid under the bushes. (R.18:332-334). She heard Jeremy Jones say something to May, heard a gunshot, saw Jones legs collapse and heard Micki Ryan, his girlfriend, screaming. (R.18: 335-336). She thought she was going to die, passed out in the bushes and woke up in the hospital. (R.18: 356).

During cross-examination, Yarbrough admitted she had a syringe in her bag, used to inject drugs. (R.18: 384-385). She testified that she observed drugs in May's apartment. (R.18: 406). She admitted her friends asks her if she had drugs and she told them she had some. (R.18: 409). She denied having Jones gun to rob Mr. May of drugs. (R.18: 409). She claimed she did not lose a fingernail during the struggle although one was found on the floor. (R.18:409-411).

Jeremy Cochise Jones was living with Steven Sweighart, the leaseholder, Micki Ryan, Jeremy's girlfriend, and a third squatter Julio. (R.18:443-444). On July 2, 2018, he was trying to get drugs. Ryan asked Yarbrough to get some drugs from May. (R.18:446, 457). Jones was working on his bike in the apartment when he heard a gunshot. (R.18: 447). Rushing to see what happened, he saw Yarbrough bleeding at the bottom of the stairs of May's apartment. (R.18:448). May came out the door and denied shooting Yarbrough. May and Jones ran down their respective apartments' stairs at the same time. (R.18:448-449). Jones went to the parking lot and saw Yarbrough running around the building. (R.18:449).

Somebody shot him, and he fell to the ground. He did not know who shot him and did not see May with a gun in his hand. (R.18:450, 553). Although he did not have a knife in his hand, it was probably in his pocket. (R.18:451). He testified that May went to the car, backed out of the parking lot, and left. ((R.18:452-453). He was shot in the left upper back area and is unable

to walk. (R.18:453).

<u>Micki Ryan</u> lived at 713 West 25th street Apt B on July 2, 2002, with her boyfriend Jeremy Jones and two other people. (R.19:552-553). Yarbrough stopped by to ask Regina for ride home. Micky Ryan and Jones wanted to buy methamphetamine and asked Yarbrough to get some (R.19:556). <u>Ryan</u> testified she heard a gunshot and scream. (R.19:557-559). She went to the front door and saw Tommy was standing at the bottom of his stairs. (R.19:560). Jeremy turned and the gun went off. (R.19: 560). She ran down the stairs to Jeremy who said he couldn't feel his legs. Ryan testified that May had a black gun. Jeremy had nothing in his hand. (R.19:561-562).

<u>Regina Sailor</u> had dropped over to Sweighart's apartment to visit. (R.18:461). She heard a gunshot. She came into the kitchen facing the door to go out and saw Jeremy outside in the parking lot at the bottom of his stairs. May had his arm extended and she saw a gunshot. (R.18:466). Jeremy was facing him in a halfway stance and fell to the ground (R.18:467, 484). Regina found Yarbrough in some bushes behind the apartment. (R.18:475, 487).

<u>Michael Jordan</u> was acquainted with Mr. May, Ms. Yarbrough, and Mr. Jones. (R.22: 1299-1300). At Mr. May's trial, Mr. Jordan testified on behalf of the prosecution although he originally was subpoenaed by the defense. (R.22: 1316). At the time of the trial, the Douglas County District Attorney's office was prosecuting him for possession of methamphetamine. (R.34: 12). With a criminal history of "A," Mr. Jordan was facing 37 to 42 months in prison (R.34:14).

At the trial, Mr. Jordan testified that, although he was facing that charge, and the State had approached him about getting information on May while at the jail, he was getting "Nothing...Zero" in exchange for his testimony for the prosecution. (R.22: 1327). Nonetheless,

two days after Mr. Jordan's critical testimony incriminating Mr. May, the district attorney's office "felt he deserved some acknowledgment and consideration for doing that." He pled down to misdemeanor possession of paraphernalia and was given time served. (R.34, M\$NT:13-14).

Jordan testified that in June 2018, he had given \$200 to May to give to Jones, so that Jones could purchase something for Jordan. Mr. May gave the money to Mr. Jones, but Mr. Jones did not purchase the item. (R.22:1301). According to Jordan, when May heard that Jordan did not get his item, he offered to kill Jones, if Jordan asked him. (R.22: 1302). Jordan also said that May had told him that he had shot his bed, leaving a hole in the bedsheet. (R.22:1304). According to Jordan, on the morning of July 2, 2018, he sold May an "eight-ball" of methamphetamine. (R.22:1308).

In December 2018, while they were both in jail Jordan met with May, who talked to him about the events of July 2, 2018. (R.22: 1312). According to Jordan, May said that Yarbrough came over to his apartment to get drugs. May had believed that she stole drugs from him. (R. 22: 1312). May said that he "grabbed his gun and shot the bitch." (R.22: 1313). May then told him that Mr. Jones came out and asked, "Did you do that?" (R.22: 1314). In response, Mr. May said, "Fuck you" and shot him in the back. (R.22: 1314). Later, Jordan and May spoke again. Mr. May said that Ms. Yarbrough and Mr. Jones were trying to rob him, and that Ms. Yarbrough shot him. (R.22: 1316).

<u>Dr. James Howard</u>, trauma surgeon at University of Kansas medical center, treated Jeremy Jones for a gunshot injury. (R: 18:492-493). The bullet travelled from the left back shoulder to

right, causing spinal injuries in the midback and coming to rest on the spine, leaving Jones a paraplegic. (R: 18:499-500). <u>Dr. Nicholas Hosey</u> treated Yarbrough at the Overland Park Regional Medical Center. (R.19:530). Yarbrough had a penetrating injury that went through the soft tissue of her cheek, traveled down, and exited her face. (R.19:543). The bullet may then have travelled through the chest and exited out the left back. (R.19:546-548).

The officers found Yarbrough on the south side of the building. She was shot in the face and had lost a lot of blood. There was blood on apt A stairs, parking lot, and on the ground toward the bushes. (R.19: 599-600. Yarbrough had her clothing including a bra, scarf, and cell phone with her. (R.19: 606-608).

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