NO. 21-123,622-A

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF KANSAS

STATE OF KANSASPlaintiff-Appellee

vs.

TOMMY J. MAY
Defendant-Appellant

BRIEF OF APPELLEE

Appeal from the District Court of Douglas County, Kansas Honorable James McCabria, Judge District Court Case No. 18CR728

Jon Simpson, #26455
Senior Assistant District Attorney
Douglas County District
Attorney's Office
111 E 11th Street
Lawrence, Kansas 66044
Phone (785) 841-0211
Fax: (785) 832-8202
jsimpson@douglascountyks.org
daappeals@douglascountyks.org

Attorney for Appellee

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

He told the jury he undergoes "chemo treatment on a monthly basis" and takes VA-prescribed oxycodone as a result. (R.22, 1385, 1395, 1397–98, 1487–88.) He told the jury he receives disability checks and has worn a back brace every day "[s]ince 2016." (R. 23, 1400–01, 1489– 90.) He told the jury he had, just before the shooting, spent "[a]bout four days" with the VA hospital for a "pneumonia" condition that left him so "weak" and "debilitated" that Yarbough was able to "manhandle" him. (R. 22, 1413, 1421; R. 23, 1578, 1579, 1579–80, 1588.) He told the jury how "tunnel vision" left him, from the shooting to his arrest, entirely without peripheral vision. (R. 22, 1413–14, 1421, 1428; R. 23, 1452, 1472, 1479–80, 1560– 61.) He told the jury that tunnel vision was "a "symptom[]" he suffers from the "post traumatic stress syndrome" "[flour-and-a-half years" serving as "a paratrooper in the Special Forces" had caused him. (R. 22, 1383–84, 1414, 1421; R. 23, 1452–53.) He told the jury he fled his apartment after shooting Yarbrough and Jones because he could not tolerate the "violent[] sick[ness]" and "flashbacks" that seeing and smelling Yarbrough's blood caused him. (R. 22, 1420-21.) And he told the jury he then had and still has "greatly diminished," "impaired" hearing. (R. 22, 1389; R. 23, 1561–62.) If May wished to introduce information beyond this, he failed to do so and now has no claim to reversal. See K.S.A. 60-405.

His new-trial motion proffers add nothing to his claim. At the posttrial hearing, May offered certain medical records confirming his cancer diagnosis, medications, and pneumonia hospitalization. The court accepted them "for purposes of making a record" and ruled them "not newly discovered." (R.34, 107–15.) May has not incorporated those exhibits on appeal. *See State v. Miller*, 308 Kan. 1119, 1157, 427 P.3d 907 (2018). Beyond those records, however, he presented only materially indistinguishable medical-condition testimony. (R.34, 105–07, 115–16, 149–55; *see also* R.35, 16, 18.) May has proved no interference with his rights.

Other Witness' Drug-Involvement or Past Violence. The court tentatively excluded evidence of other witnesses' prior drug or criminal activities on grounds of relevance. Its ruling came with the express caveat, however, that, if a situation arose "where defense believe[d] that need[ed] to be explored," "[it was] going to be open to that." (R. 16, 17–20.) May claims this ruling prevented him at trial from testifying to "observed evidence of drug dealing and violence" that "was relevant to [his] perception of Jones and Yarbrough." (Appellant's Br., 38.) He points specifically to evidence he proffered posttrial, purportedly showing "Jones' extreme violence to drug clients" and Yarbrough's "exclu[sion] from the property because she assaulted [his] neighbor." (Appellant's Br., 38.) May's claim has several flaws.

First, May made no such proffer of or attempt to introduce this particular evidence before or at his trial. That he failed to avail himself of the court's expressed openness to receiving relevant past-conduct evidence does not prove the court subverted his rights. *See* K.S.A. 60-405. Second, May cites no authority establishing his proposed evidence's admissibility, thus waiving the point. *See Gibson*, 299 Kan. at 222. In contrast, as character-evidence matter, neither Yarbrough's nor Jones' specific acts of past violence were admissible. *See State v. Alderson*, 260 Kan. 445, Syl. ¶ 11, 462, 922 P.2d 435 (1996); *State v. Sola-Morales*, No. 97,011, 2008 WL 2510154, *5–*7 (Kan. App. 2008) (unpublished opinion). May's account of what Stephen Sweigart (the actual owner of the apartment Jones lived in) told him about Yarbrough attacking Sweigart was hearsay (inconsistent with Sweigart's account), and May failed to subpoena Sweigart for trial. (R. 34, 80, 86, 93–95.) And because May admitted he knew nothing about any no-contact order excluding Yarbrough from the apartments, the information was irrelevant to his state of mind and unduly prejudicial. (R. 34, 95.)

Third, the new-trial-motion evidence again shows that May did present the essence of

the evidence he insists his defense required. He told the jury about the "[i]n and out," "[d]ay and night" traffic "constantly coming and going out of [his neighbors'] apartment"—which, in the trial evidence's context, quite obviously referred to drug activity. (R. 22, 1387; R. 34, 150.) He told the jury about the prior theft of his SUV and the "several" break-in incidents that made him feel so unsafe and "afraid in [his] apartment" that he jammed his front door closed with butterknives. (R. 22, 1386-90; R. 23, 1512-13; R. 34, 150-51.) He told the jury how he "got suspicious" after Yarbrough approached him looking for money, drugs, and a place to be "shooting up." (R. 22, 1393–96; R. 34, 117, 151–52.) He told the jury how he "had seen [Jones] knock several people out in front on [his own] apartment." (R. 23, 1482; R. 34, 96-98, 152-53.) He told the jury that Jones had "robbed [him] with a gun." (R. 22, 1410; R. 23, 1482, 1488–89; R. 34, 153.) And he told the jury that both Yarbrough and Jones made him afraid. (R. 22, 1402, 1410, 1418–20; R. 23, 1481, 1533; R. 34, 117–18, 152–54.) As the district court found when denying May's new-trial claim, the jury "certainly...had a fair impression [of] life at the fourplex" and "the factors that gave...insight [into May's] state of mind that day and during the events." (R. 35, 14–16.) May's rights were not violated.

Any Error Harmless. Assuming otherwise, the evidentiary limitations imposed on May were harmless. Where a court limits "some evidence relating to [a defendant's] defense" as opposed to effecting "a complete denial of a defense," "the [statutory] harmless error standard...applies." *State v. Gilliland*, 294 Kan. 519, 541–42, 276 P.3d 165 (2012). Comparing the evidence reviewed in Section I.B. with the just-discussed evidence May introduced, no juror who heard the evidence he claims he was unable to present would have acquitted him. As the court found of May's new-trial-motion evidence, "much of what I have heard today is consistent with what I heard at trial[,]...which is another way of saying I believe the jury

considered most all of these things." (R. 34, 203.) The collective evidence shows there is no reasonable probability that the court's rulings affected May's convictions by "improperly exclud[ing] relevant, admissible, and noncumulative evidence that was an integral part or [his] defense theory." *State v. Lawrence*, 281 Kan. 1081, 1089, 135 P.3d 1211 (2006).

B. The district court properly admonished the jury to disregard May's comment on the court's legal ruling and otherwise appropriately conducted his testimony.

The court ruled that May not testify about his medical conditions or diagnoses beyond giving "his own physical feelings and thoughts." (R. 17, 3.) On the day May first took the witness stand (before the court reversed its ruling in part), the State advised that in a recent jail call, May expressed that he: intended to defy the court's order directing him not to mention cancer, had no concerns about contempt, and, "no matter what," would make sure the jury hears that he is terminally ill with cancer. (R. 22, 1275.) The court reiterated to May that its rulings were to be followed, or May may "end up appearing via video to testify, so [the court] can mute [his] testimony" if necessary. (R. 22, 1280–81.)

May testified the tunnel vision he had experienced when Jones ran at him was a PTSD symptom. (R. 22, 1413–14.) The State objected, argued at the bench that "we're getting into a violation of the Court's order," and the court excused the jury so it could address May. (R. 22, 1414–15.) May claimed he "forgot about" the court's order. (R. 22, 1415.) The court again explained that he could testify to what he perceived and experienced but not connect those facts to any diagnosis. (R. 22, 1415.) May affirmed he "understood that." (R. 22, 1415.)

Roughly four pages after May's testimony resumed, he was asked to describe how he personally experiences tunnel vision. He responded: "It's like a fish. I mean, any combat soldier or person in an accident—the Judge say that I can't mention the post traumatic stress syndrome." (R. 22, 1421.) The State again objected. The court excused the jury to address

May. (R. 22, 1421–22.) May quickly volunteered that he was "fumbling with [his] words." (R. 22, 1422.) But the court found that the fact he "specifically said...the Judge told me I can't mention PTSD," proved he "kn[e]w very well what [he was] not supposed to be mentioning" and was "directly not following th[e] Court's directives." (R. 22, 1422–23.) The court noted that it had given May "a great deal of liberty to talk about what [he was] seeing," "hearing," and "perceiving." (R. 22, 1423.) It "just want[ed everyone] to proceed in an orderly fashion, consistent with the Court's order." (R. 22, 1423.) But it again cautioned May that if he violates the court's order, it would adjourn and arrange for him to testify via video. (R. 22, 1422, 1426.) May confirmed that he understood. (R. 22, 1423.) The State noted that May was "doing exactly what he had said he was going to do" in his jail call. (R. 22, 1424.) And, at the State's request, when proceedings resumed, the court instructed the jury:

Ladies and gentlemen, we're going to resume testimony here in a moment, but I want to address the last comment that you heard Mr. May indicate, and the reason for the Court calling the recess as Mr. May said the Judge has told him he can't mention certain things. And as I told [you in] orientation, there is rules of evidence and rulings have been made and this Court has pronounced them, and I am just assuring that everybody is following along with the Court's order. So I am specifically directing you to disregard any comment Mr. May testified to about PTSD.

(R. 22, 1427–28.) At the close of the day's proceedings, it further instructed: "The Court's given you some instructions about the nature of the evidence you've heard here today. You shouldn't concern yourselves for any reasons for any evidentiary rulings." (R. 22, 1439.)

The next day the court called counsel to the bench three times. In the first instance, the court overruled a State's objection, allowing May to testify that certain life events trigger his tunnel vision. Asked what those events are, May started to answer: "I have been through a lot of military operations and I am predisposed—" (R. 23, 1452–53.) The court called counsel to the bench. It explained that, though the question invited May to discuss his triggers, May's

response veered toward "talking about causation." (R. 23, 1453.) It emphasized May's answer perpetuated its "concerns about Mr. May's willingness to follow the Court's order." (R. 23, 1454.) It gave defense counsel the option to proceed or take a recess to reemphasize the court's order, and counsel elected to recess. (R. 23, 1454.) Following the recess, defense counsel asked May what he meant when he said he "disengaged" from his confrontation with Sgt. Neff. (R. 23, 1468.) At the bench, the court clarified with defense counsel what answer he expected May to provide. The court indicated it had feared that May's use of the term "disengaged" referred to "mental disengagement" and perhaps was leading to "trying to present a mental defect or disease defect" defense. (R. 23, 1469.) Defense counsel assured that was not his intention. And the court offered that it would allow defense counsel leeway to use leading questions to "avoid these characterizations by Mr. May." (R. 23, 1469–70.) The parties were back at the bench a final time when defense counsel questioned May about what period he had spent "in an aura that [he'd] called tunnel vision." (R. 23, 1478–79.) Questioning quickly resumed after defense counsel's proffered intention satisfied the court that the question and testimony would be limited to "what [May] was personally experiencing." (R. 23, 1479.)

No (Reversible) Instruction Error. May argues the court clearly erred in instructing the jury to disregard his testimony because it "improperly focused on certain evidence," raised "doubt about [his] attempt to describe his [PTSD] symptoms," and prejudicially portrayed him as willfully violating the court's orders. (Appellant's Br., 39.) May's comment—"the Judge say that I can't mention the [PTSD]"—however, was not "evidence." "Evidence' is the means from which inferences may be drawn as a basis of proof." K.S.A. 60-401(a). The court's evidentiary instructions to May supported no inferences probative of his guilt or innocence. Directing the jury to disregard that inadmissible nonevidence was proper. The

court also had to identify which portion of May's testimony it intended the jury disregard. So, particularizing its instruction in that respect too was proper. Appropriately, it had paused proceedings to address May's violation outside the jury's presence. So, contextualizing its admonishment by reminding the jury what had transpired was not improper. As May's comment risked misleading the jury that the court was impartially acting to subvert his testimony, reminding the jury that the limitation to which May referred in fact arose from its duty to evenhandedly enforce its orders was entirely appropriate. Cf. State v. Miller, 308 Kan. 1119, 1154, 427 P.3d 907 (2018). Nothing the court said was factually untrue, a misstatement of law, or told the jury how it ought to view May's admissible testimony. And the court's further instructions no doubt assured that the jury fairly considered May's testimony. (R. 22, 1439; R. 1, 328–30, 332.) In short, the court did not err. See State v. Vigil, No. 118,670, 2020 WL 741702, *5 (Kan. App. 2020) (unpublished opinion). May's case is not, as he implies, one where the court's instruction "zeroed in on" the entire premise of his defense and effectively told the jury how it ought to weigh those facts. See State v. DeVries, 13 Kan. App. 2d 609, 617–19, 780 P.2d 1118 (1989). And even assuming error, the evidence incriminating May prove even an error-free instruction would not have changed his trial's outcome.

No Judicial Misconduct. May also claims the "constant interruptions," "bench conferences," and "threats to...remove him" caused him intolerable unfairness and prejudice. But the "interruptions" were few—five instances across 152 pages of testimony. Only three of those instances were court-, as opposed to state-, initiated. Its "threats" too were few and occurred outside the jury's presence. Those "threats" were, in fact, a quite measured response from the court, considering: the report of May's jail call; an additional report that "[May] had asked [another trial witness] to testify a certain way...that was not accurate;" and the fact that

the court viewed May's back-to-back PTSD testimony as "contempt." (R. 22, 1274–75, 1422.) Nothing in the record shows the court's remarks to counsel or May were impatient, rude, impartial, and pervasive. *But see State v. Hayden*, 281 Kan. 112, 116–17,126, 230 P.3d 24 (2006); (*E.g.*, R. 22, 1426.) And May, as shown above, had full opportunity to testify and present his defense within the rules of evidence. Considering the gravity of the court's quite valid concern that May intended to testify as he wished irrespective of its orders, the court's actions fell comfortably within the "broad direction and leeway" afforded it to discharge its obligation to "control the proceedings" and do that which is "reasonably required for the orderly progress of the trial." *State v. Hamilton*, 240 Kan. 539, 546–47, 731 P.2d 863 (1987). "Mere possibility of prejudice" affords no basis for reversal. *Hamilton*, 240 Kan. at 546.

III. The State's at-trial endorsement of Michael Jordan was no abuse of the district court's discretion. (Appellant's Issue V)

Issue Five of May's brief challenges the court's decision to allow Jordan's endorsement. Specifically, he claims that it violated both statutory discovery rules and his fair-trial right.

Preservation & Review Standard. As proof he preserved his challenge, May cites both to the trial record and his motions for a new trial. But none of May's counsel's objections, motions, or arguments addressed Jordan's endorsement as a discovery-violation issue; so, he has failed to preserve any such claim. (R. 22, 1277; R. 1, 367, 398–99; R. 34, 190–92, 94–95); In re N.E., 316 Kan. 391, 407–08, 516 P.3d 586 (2022). And by not arguing any exception to preservation, he has waived the point. See In re N.E., 316 Kan. at 407–08. That said, this Court reviews witness-endorsement decisions "for an abuse of discretion." State v. Brosseit, 308 Kan. 743, 747, 423 P.3d 1036 (2018). "An abuse of discretion occurs if the decision is arbitrary, fanciful, or unreasonable, or if it is based on an error of law or fact." White, 316 Kan. at 213.

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